

Can CDM Deliver Its Emission Reduction Purpose?

A panel data analysis for developing countries.

Sule Karamik

Degree project/Independent project • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences / Department of Economics Environmental Economics and Management – Master's Programme Degree project/SLU, Department of Economics, 1451 • ISSN 1401-4084 Uppsala, 2022

Can CDM deliver its emission reduction purpose? A panel data analysis for developing countries

Sule Karamik

Supervisor:	Roweno Heijmans, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences SLU, Department of Economics
Examiner:	Rob Hart, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences SLU, Department of Economics

Credits:	30 credits				
Level:	A2E				
Course title:	Master thesis in Economics				
Course code:	EX0905				
Programme/education:	Environmental Economics and Management				
Course coordinating dept:	Department of Economics				
Place of publication:	Uppsala				
Year of publication:	2022				
Copyright:	All featured images are used with permission from the copyright owner.				
Title of series:	Degree project/SLU, Department of Economics				
Part number:	1451				
ISSN:	1401-4084				
Keywords:	clean development mechanism, cdm, kyoto protocol, emissions reduction, ardl, pooled mean group, pmg				

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Economics

Abstract

The Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) is one of the three flexible mechanisms defined within the Kyoto Protocol. It aims to help developed countries achieve emission reduction targets with low abatement costs while providing sustainable development to developing countries. However, whether CDM has delivered this dual objective has been questionable. This study empirically examines the long-run effect of CDM projects on carbon dioxide emissions per capita for 69 eligible developing countries from 1993 to 2012 with a panel data analysis. The research mainly focuses on Pooled Mean Group (PMG) estimator that allows short-run coefficients to alter between groups but restricts long-run coefficients to be the same. The empirical results indicate a significant and positive relationship between CDM projects and carbon dioxide emissions per capita in the long run, implying that CDM did not lead to emission reductions in respective countries over 1993-2012. This result can be explained due to non-additional projects operated within the mechanism. To observe emission reductions with the implementation of CDM projects, we conclude that assessments regarding additionality and issued emission credits should be improved with better methodologies, governance and increased transparency.

Keywords: clean development mechanism, cdm, kyoto protocol, emissions reduction, ardl model, pooled mean group, pmg

Table of contents

List o	f tables	. 6
List o	f figures	. 7
Abbr	eviations	. 8
1.	Introduction	. 9
2.	An Overview of the Clean Development Mechanism	12
3.	Literature Review	16
4.	Data	19
	4.1 Data Sources	19
	4.2 Data Handling	21
	4.3 Descriptive Statistics	22
	4.4 Data Limitations	23
5.	Methodology	24
	5.1 Auto-regressive Distributed Lag (ARDL) Model 2 5.1.1 Unit Root Test 2	24 25
	5.2 Cointegration Test and the Error Correction Model	26
	5.3 Model Specification	27
	5.3.1 Transforming Specified Model to Error Correction Model	28
	5.3.2 Pooled Mean Group (PMG) Estimator	29
6.	Results	30
	6.1 Unit Root Test for Stationarity	30
	6.2 F-bounds Test for Cointegration	31
	6.3 Pooled Mean Group (PMG) Estimator for Short-run and Long-run Relationships	32
7.	Discussion	36
8.	Conclusion	38
Refer	ences	39
Арре	ndix 1	14
Appe	ndix 2	45

List of tables

Table 1. Summary of the variables and data sources	20
Table 2. Descriptive statistics of the variables.	22
Table 3. Results of the unit root tests	31
Table 4. F-bounds test results for cointegration	31
Table 5. PMG estimator for the long-run and short-run relationships	32
Table 6. PMG estimator for the long-run and short-run relationships, including the DEMOC variable	34
Table A1. Correlation matrix	44
Table A2. List of countries, first registration year and the number of CDM projects	45

List of figures

Figure 1. Percentage share of CDM projects in each category	13
Figure 2. CDM project cycle	14
Figure 3. CERs issued in each category	15

Abbreviations

ADF	Augmented Dickey-Fuller
ARDL	Autoregressive Distributed Lag
CDM	Clean Development Mechanism
CER	Certified Emission Credit
DNA	Designated National Authority
DOE	Designated Operational Entity
EKC	Environmental Kuznets Curve
ET	Emissions Trading
FDI	Foreign Direct Investment
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
JI	Joint Implementation
PMG	Pooled Mean Group
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNEP CCC	United Nations Environment Programme - Copenhagen
	Climate Centre

1. Introduction

Global efforts to decrease greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions as the main cause of anthropogenic climate change have gained significant attention over the last three decades. Although developed countries historically are accountable for the bulk of GHG emissions, developing countries will be responsible for a 70% increase in global carbon dioxide emissions from 2002 to 2030 (OECD, 2002). In addition to that, developing countries' expected per capita emissions are lower than the per capita emissions of developed countries; however, aggregate emissions of the former will be significantly higher than the latter beyond 2020 (Dagoumas et al., 2006; Banuri & Gupta, 2000).

In order to limit and reduce GHG emissions, Kyoto Protocol was adopted on 11 December 1997. The Kyoto Protocol is recognized as a milestone in global efforts to combat climate change since it is the first of its kind where governments agreed on legally-binding constraints on their emissions. It requires 37 Annex I Parties (i.e. developed countries) and the European Union to decrease their emissions on average by 5.2% compared to 1990 emissions levels over the first commitment period 2008-2012 (UNFCCC, 2022c).

Within the Protocol, three market-based mechanisms were introduced, which have created what today is known as carbon markets. These mechanisms are *Clean Development Mechanism* (CDM), *Joint Implementation* (JI) and *Emissions Trading* (ET), all of which aim to assist Annex I Parties in achieving emission reduction targets with lower abatement costs by providing flexibility. However, among the aforementioned three mechanisms, CDM is the only flexible mechanism that involves developing countries in climate mitigation and negotiations (Huang & Barker, 2012). Considering the emissions development path of developing countries and recognizing climate change as a global issue, it is clear that both developed and developing countries should take part in global climate change mitigation. However, such mitigation efforts require financial means and technology to support GHG emission reductions, which most developing countries might lack.

CDM has dual objectives: (i) to assist Annex I Parties (i.e. developed countries) in achieving emission reduction targets and (ii) to provide sustainable development for the non-Annex I Parties (i.e. developing countries). The mechanism allows Annex I Parties to invest in projects with low abatement costs in non-Annex I Parties, which leads to emission reductions. The contribution of GHG emissions to climate change is the same regardless of where the GHG emissions occur. By investing in projects in countries where abatement costs are relatively low, it is

possible to promote the economic efficiency of decreasing GHG emissions (Austin & Faeth, 2000). As a return for investments, Annex I Parties receive emission credits called Certified Emission Reductions (CERs), each equivalent to one tonne of CO₂. Countries can use these emission credits to meet their emission targets under the Kyoto Protocol. In addition, these investments should support sustainable development in host countries where the CDM projects occur and increase the economic, social and environmental aspects. According to Burniaux et al. (2009), a well-functioning CDM can increase the cost-effectiveness of GHG mitigation policies in developing countries, prevent carbon leakage and decrease concerns about competitiveness by reducing the price of carbon in developed countries, and increase clean technology transfers to developing countries.

However, whether the CDM has delivered its dual objectives is highly controversial in the literature. Since there are different definitions of sustainable development and a lack of data for such indicators in developing countries, this study will only focus on the first objective of the CDM – i.e. emission reductions. So, previous studies show that researchers are divided into two groups where one group claims that CDM led to emission reductions (e.g. Huang & Barker, 2012; Banuri & Gupta, 2000; He et al., 2014), while the other group claims the opposite (e.g. Schneider, 2007; Schneider et al., 2010; Wara & Victor, 2008). Despite the controversial debate on CDM's emission reduction objective, it is crucial to evaluate the mechanism since it can provide information about how the world can cooperate in climate change mitigation after the Kyoto Protocol (He et al., 2014). In addition to that, there are currently 1243 CDM projects that will be transferred to Article 6 of the Paris Agreement (UNEP Copenhagen Climate Centre, 2022). Therefore, it is essential to understand the key learnings from CDM and improve future programs accordingly.

To investigate if CDM projects led to emission reductions, we conduct a dynamic heterogeneous panel data¹ analysis for 69 eligible developing countries from 1993 to 2012. This paper focuses on emissions from the energy sector due to oil, fuel and gas usage. The Autoregressive Distributed Lag (ARDL) model with Pooled Mean Group (PMG) estimator is adopted to investigate long-run and short-run relationships between the CDM projects and emissions. The PMG estimator allows short-run coefficients to vary across groups while constraining long-run coefficients to be the same. This study will employ a similar methodology as Huang & Barker (2012).² We aim to contribute to the literature by providing a panel data

¹ Dynamic heterogeneous panel data refers to when parameters in the model differ across groups (Pesaran & Smith, 1995).

² Huang & Barker (2012) used a private data source – i.e. Enerdata's Global Energy Market Data (2010), which requires a subscription and payment. Additionally, the authors used a binary variable for CDM projects, defined as a dummy taking a value of 1 if a project is registered before 2007 and in all years afterwards, zero otherwise. Although our methodology and the structure for the regression models are the same, we redefine the variable for CDM projects as the number of projects per capita. See Section 4. Data for more details.

analysis with open data sources since previous studies focused on panel data analysis at the aggregate level using private data sources.³

The remainder of this study is organized as follows. Section 2 provides an overview of the Clean Development Mechanism. Section 3 introduces the literature review. Section 4 describes data and limitations within the scope of this study. Section 5 introduces the methodology, and section 6 shares the estimations results of the analysis. Section 7 provides a discussion about the results, and finally, section 8 concludes the study and gives possible further research suggestions.

³ For instance, see Huang & Barker (2012) and He et al. (2014).

2. An Overview of the Clean Development Mechanism

CDM is a flexible and project-based mechanism within the Kyoto Protocol. It aims to help Annex I Parties meet their emission reduction targets and, at the same time, provide sustainable development to non-Annex I Parties (UNFCCC, 2022b). For CDM projects to be eligible, they must fulfil two requirements: additionality and environmental integrity. Additionality means that a decrease in emissions through CDM projects should be 'additional to any that would occur in the absence of such activities' (UN, 1998); in other words, emissions reductions through CDM projects would not occur in a business-as-usual case. Environmental integrity refers to real and measurable projects that create long-term benefits related to climate change mitigation.

The additionality of CDM projects is vital since the mechanism is considered an offsetting mechanism. Therefore, if a project is counted as additional, but in fact, this is not the case, this situation can increase the actual GHG emissions (Schneider, 2007). Such a situation occurs since registered projects create emission credits used by developed countries, and if the credits do not reflect the represented emission reductions in real life, developed countries end up emitting more GHG than their specified Kyoto targets.

As of 1 April 2022, there are 7173 projects registered to the CDM Pipeline in various sectors such as energy, agriculture and industry (UNEP CCC, 2022). Figure 1 shows the percentage of the CDM projects in each category. More than half of the projects are made in renewable energy since moving towards fossil-free energy production plays an essential role in decarbonizing our society and economy. The second biggest share is methane (CH₄) reduction, cement and coal mine/bed. Supply and demand-side end-use energy efficiency (as shown as supply-side EE and demand-side EE in Figure 1) also have a significant share in total projects, which is quite essential since projects within EE have the potential to improve energy security and contribute to decreasing emissions in developing countries (Hinostroza et al., 2007).

Additionally, CDM has also projects to decrease hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), perfluorocarbons (PFCs) and sulfur hexafluoride (SF6), which are humangenerated greenhouse gases through industrial processes. However, the CDM does not include projects aiming to reduce emissions with nuclear facilities. In the first commitment period of the Kyoto Protocol 2008-2012, which is the main focus of this paper, only afforestation and reforestation projects are allowed under the category of sinks.



Figure 1. Percentage share of CDM projects in each category. Source: UNEP Copenhagen Climate Centre (CCC) (2022)

Any project that can produce Certified Emission Credits (CERs) according to the rules defined by the CDM is required to fulfil the exact requirements and follow the same steps. This process is called the CDM project cycle (UNDP, 2003). Seven steps of the CDM project cycle are provided in Figure 2.

The first step is the *project design*, where project participants prepare project design documents and identify the potential projects which must satisfy the environmental integrity and additionality requirements. In order to assess these requirements, emissions produced by the projects are compared to a baseline scenario. Baseline scenarios can be created using UNFCCC's methodologies on a project basis. Project participants should also create a monitoring plan at this stage to gather precise data if the projects leads to emission reductions and if the emission reductions are in line with the scenarios. The second stage is *national approval*, where Designated National Authorities (DNAs) assess the projects and approve them according to both criteria set by UNFCCC and their countries. With these criteria, DNAs are responsible for evaluating if the projects support sustainable development in their country.



The following steps are the validation and *registration*, where the projects are assessed by a Designated Operational Entity (DOE) to validate the project. DOEs can be private companies operating in audit or consultancy that can evaluate emission reductions independently. If DOEs give a green light for the projects and validates them, the projects are sent to the CDM Executive Board for the *registration* process. The next step is *monitoring*, where the project participant is pledged to monitor actual emissions by taking into account the approved methodology. For that purpose, they prepare a monitoring report that evaluates CERs produced. Then, this report is submitted to the DOEs for the next step, i.e. verification. At the verification stage, an independent assessment is done by DOEs to

Figure 2. CDM project cycle. Source: UNFCCC (2022a)

control whether CERs are produced according to the guidelines and if the project achieves emission reductions for the mentioned period. If so, as a next and last step, DOEs submit a verification report to the CDM Executive Board for *CER issuance*.

CERs, each equivalent to one ton of carbon dioxide, can be seen as commodities bought and sold on the global carbon markets. As Parties can trade their emission permits as commodities, they acquire the flexibility to meet their targets defined under the Kyoto Protocol. Moreover, although the Protocol does not put any direct legally binding responsibility on non-Annex I Parties, the channel created by the CDM aims to encourage voluntary actions to fulfil the dual objectives of the mechanism (Banuri & Gupta, 2000). Furthermore, CERs issued for respective categories are shown in Figure 3. According to Article 12 of the Kyoto Protocol, CERs are produced once the projects start to operate. Therefore, those produced CERs can be used at any time by the developed countries as long as they ratify the Kyoto Protocol.



Figure 3. CERs issued in each category. Source: UNEP Copenhagen Climate Centre (CCC) (2022)

In addition to CDM's emission reduction and sustainable development goals, the mechanism was also designed to assist developing countries in adaptation to climate change effects. For that purpose, UNFCCC has established the Adaptation Fund to create financial means for adaptation projects and help vulnerable countries. As a result, 2% of the revenues created by CERs have been transferred to the Adaptation Fund. During the first commitment period of the Kyoto Protocol, CDM was the only fund source. However, after 2012, the other two mechanisms of the Protocol (emissions trading and joint implementation) were also included as a financial source to the Adaptation Fund with a contribution of a 2% share of the proceeds (UNFCCC, 2022c).

3. Literature Review

Whether the CDM has contributed to emission reductions or not is controversial among previous studies. For instance, Huang & Barker (2012) conducted a dynamic heterogeneous panel data analysis on 80 CDM host countries from 1993 to 2009 to examine the relationship between the CDM projects and carbon dioxide emission reductions. The authors employed a pooled mean group estimator that allows for heterogeneous dynamic adjustments towards a common long-run equilibrium. Their result yielded a significant effect of CDM projects on emission reductions – i.e. in the long run, it is anticipated that the existence of CDM projects in host countries led to emission reductions.

Moreover, He et al. (2014) extended Huang & Barker's (2012) study and focused on 60 CDM host countries from 2005 to 2010. The authors employed a dynamic panel data model with an X-differencing procedure⁴ and found a significant impact of CDM projects on emission reductions. They conclude that the international community must continue to support CDM projects for low carbon development in developing countries. Additionally, Banuri & Gupta (2000) studied the conceptual frameworks to define issues about the CDM, focusing primarily on sustainable development. The authors concluded that developing countries could adopt less GHG-intensive technologies through CDM projects, which would reduce emissions.

Furthermore, the mechanism has also the potential to prevent carbon leakage that might decrease the environmental effectiveness of international climate agreements. Kallbekken et al. (2007) studied how CDM can decrease carbon leakage by adopting a computable general equilibrium model and investigated the effect of three different baseline approaches.⁵ Their result showed that realizing the potential of such leakage depends on how the CDM baseline approach explains this impact. Still, the authors concluded that under the realistic assumptions on the level of CDM activity, CDM has the potential to decrease carbon leakage regardless of which baseline approach is adopted.

⁴ The X-differencing procedure is a panel data econometric model, which uses systematic differencing by eliminating fixed effects and keeping the information and signal strength in situations where there is a unit root or a root near unity. The "panel fully aggregated" estimator (PFAE) is created through pooled least squares on X-differencing equations. For more details, see Han et al. (2013).

⁵ Three scenarios were described by Kallbekken et al. (2007) as follows. Scenario 1 – No Kyoto (i.e. what the emissions would be without the implementation of the Kyoto Protocol). Scenario 2 – No CDM (i.e. To find the weight of carbon leakage with the implementation of the Kyoto Protocol, with IET and JI but without any CDM projects). Scenario 3 – CDM scenario.

On the other hand, Schneider (2007) focused on assessing the environmental integrity and sustainable development objectives of the CDM by using 93 registered CDM projects, including interviews and a literature survey. The selection of the projects was made randomly out of 768 projects registered between 2004 and 2007. The author ranked the projects according to the date of the registration request and then picked every eighth project. The results yielded that CDM had not successfully achieved its emission reduction objective. Schenider (2007) concluded that CDM had successfully created a market for greenhouse gas emissions; however, it did not delivered a high level of environmental integrity and sustainable development. The author also emphasized that there is room for developing the mechanism.

In another context, Schneider et al. (2010) focused on adipic acid projects within the CDM and investigated if these projects carry any risk against environmental integrity. Their result showed that CDM seemed to cause carbon leakage in 2008 and 2009 during the economic downturn when adipic acid production shifted from non-CDM plants to CDM plants. Such a shift probably happened from plants that emitted NO₂ or functioned in other countries with a cap under the Kyoto Protocol due to revenues provided by the CDM. The authors highlighted that the magnitude of such a carbon leakage was not specific but considering the CDM plants in the absence of CDM operated at the average global plant utilization rate, this shift increased GHG emissions by around 6.3 MtCO_2 in 2008 and 7.2 MtCO_2 in 2009. In terms of percentage perspective, these numbers correspond to 17% - 22% of CERs produced from this project type did not represent the actual emission reduction. Schneider et al. (2010) suggest that in order to prevent such a situation, the current baseline and monitoring methodology can be improved; one example can be implementing an ambitious baseline emission benchmark.

Moreover, Shi et al. (2021) focused on China as the biggest emitter of carbon dioxide and investigated if CDM projects have contributed to emission reduction in the country. The authors carried out panel data analysis at the provincial level from 2000 to 2017. In their analysis, provincial carbon dioxide was taken as the dependent variable while the number of CDM projects was taken as an independent variable, including a control variable for the selected series, the city fixed effect, and the year fixed effect. Since the government lacked data related to carbon emissions, the authors used a method to calculate carbon emissions by referring to previous studies.⁶ They extended the regression model in the next step and took CDM project type as a dependent variable instead in order to capture the effect of projects that are cooperative and non-cooperative. The authors found that CDM

⁶ The authors calculated the carbon emissions as follows: *Carbon emissions = Energy consumption* × *Carbon emission coefficient*, where energy consumption represents the energy usage mostly from coal, oil and gas; the carbon emission coefficient refers to a sensitivity coefficient of carbon emissions of various types of energies. The average value of such coefficient is calculated primarily according to the carbon emission coefficients published by the United States Department of Energy, the Japan Institute of Energy Economics, the Climate Change Projects of the National Science and Technology Commission, and the Energy Research Institute of National Development and Reform Commission.

projects significantly contributed to a decrease in carbon dioxide emissions per unit of GDP and the growth rate of carbon dioxide emissions. This empirical analysis also showed that the effect of cooperative projects on carbon emissions is more significant than that of non-cooperative ones. Their study also proved that the implementations of CDM projects in China supported the substitution of fossil usage in the energy sector and developed energy-utilization efficiency.

In a Latin American context, Watts et al. (2015) studied the dynamics of the global distribution of CDM projects. Their analysis focused more closely on Chile since it is one of the most active countries within CDM projects and has the most registered CERs among small countries. For that purpose, they conducted a case study with 180 renewable energy projects to understand the factors that affected the inclusion of projects to the CDM program and the additionality of the projects. Their results showed that additionality assessment under CDM is too subjective, preventing the projects' validation and transparency.

Moreover, another aspect that has been analysed in the literature is the uneven distribution of the CDM projects. Some countries are over-dominating other countries regarding the number of CDM projects (e.g. China, India or Brazil). Li & Lin (2021) studied the factors that affected the distribution of CDM projects with negative binomial regression and conducted a panel data analysis for 107 host countries. The authors created sub-groups for the host countries according to their number of operating CDM projects a year. They found that experience in advanced international trading, increasing demand for energy in the host countries, and the affluence of a host country positively affect the successful registration of the CDM projects. On the other hand, the cost of carbon emission reduction can prevent a successful registration. However, Li & Lin (2021) emphasized that in the case of host countries with fewer CDM projects, their result showed no significant effect between the industrial level, national carbon emission, and CDM projects' distribution.

The mentioned studies highlight that the debate about the CDM's impact on emission reductions is highly controversial and that results and interpretations change significantly according to used methodologies or included regions and countries. Nevertheless, it is essential to examine this issue to understand whether CDM can deliver its emission reduction purpose and, if not, how the mechanism can be improved to achieve its objective.

4. Data

This section describes the variables included in the analysis, data sources and how the process is handled. Afterwards, we end the section by presenting data limitations. However, before we move on to the next section, it is essential to highlight some points. First, the focus of this study is on the first commitment period of the Kyoto Protocol, i.e. 2008-2012. To examine the emission developments of countries, it is essential to include years before 2008. However, most developing countries lacked data prior to 1993; therefore, this paper considers the time period from 1993 to 2012. Second, the list of the countries is shaped after going through the CDM projects registered during the first commitment period related to the energy sector. Third, we eliminated any country with less than 17 observations for variables included in the regression. More details related to this process are provided under Section 4.2, Data Handling.

4.1 Data Sources

To investigate the impact of CDM projects on emissions for 69 countries from 1993 to 2012, we include the following variables in our regression model: carbon dioxide emissions per capita from the energy sector, the number of CDM projects per capita, gross domestic product per capita, square of gross domestic product per capita and a proxy variable representing the level of democracy. Summary of the variable names, descriptions and data sources are given in Table 1.

Our dependent variable is carbon dioxide emissions per capita, denoted as CO_2 and taken in logarithm. As shown in Section 2, energy-related projects have the most significant share of overall CDM projects. Additionally, as stated in the OECD Environmental Outlook Report for 2050 (2012), global GHG emissions could increase by 50% by 2050, 70% of which would occur due to energy consumption based on fossil fuels. Therefore, this paper focuses on emissions from the energy sector due to coal, oil, and gas usage. Data for CO_2 emissions is taken from Our World in Data (2022), which is updated regularly and contains information related to annual, per capita, cumulative and consumption-based carbon dioxide emissions. Their CO_2 emission is sourced from the Global Carbon Project.

The primary independent variable is the number of CDM projects per capita, denoted as CDM. Here we observe that CDM projects increase if a country is highly populated (e.g. China and India). In addition, main regressors are taken from a per

capita perspective; therefore, the CDM variable is also considered as the number of projects per capita for respective countries. Data related to CDM projects are taken from UNEP Copenhagen Climate Centre (CCC) (2022). There are different stages for CDM projects. This paper considers the projects with status as *validation, deregistered, registered, registration request,* and *request review*. Dataset related to population (i.e. POP variable) is taken from World Development Indicators (WDI) provided by the World Bank (2022b).

The other independent variable is the gross domestic product per capita, denoted as GDP and taken in logarithm. Data related to GDP is taken from World Bank (2022a) for 1993-2012 and in current US dollars. Given dollar figures for GDP values are calculated from domestic currencies by using single year official exchange rates. The squared version of the GDP variable is also included as another independent variable, denoted as GDP².

Variable description	Symbols	Data sources
Carbon dioxide emissions per capita from the energy sector due to oil, gas and fuel usage. In logarithm.	CO ₂	Our World in Data (2022)
The number of CDM projects per capita.	CDM	UNEP Copenhagen Climate Centre – CDM/JI Pipeline Analysis and Database (2022)
Gross domestic product per capita. In logarithm.	GDP	World Bank (2022a)
Square of log of gross domestic product per capita.	GDP ²	World Bank (2022a)
A proxy that represents the democracy level.	DEMOC	Polity5 database – Marshall & Gurr (2020)
Population (all residents regardless of legal status or citizenship)	РОР	WDI, World Bank (2022b)

Table 1. Summary of the variables and data sources.

For a robustness check, a variable representing the level of democracy is also included in our regression, denoted by DEMOC. As a proxy for the DEMOC variable, we use the Polity indicator ("polity2") from the Polity5 Database due to Marshall and Gurr (2020).⁷ The polity indicator shows scores ranging from -10 to +10, representing autocracies and democracies. This indicator is commonly used to analyse institutional quality derived from factors such as freedom of suffrage, operational constraints and respect for fundamental political rights. Such factors might affect how the host countries can operate within the CDM and the number of projects they host since developed countries could consider these factors as

⁷ Polity5 database can be downloaded from: <u>http://www.systemicpeace.org/inscrdata.html</u>

stability, creating a tendency to make more investments in those developing countries. Additionally, previous studies show that the democracy level is positively or negatively related to emissions; or does not have any relationship (e.g. Chou et al., 2019; Lægreid, 2014; Selseng et al., 2022). Therefore, this study includes the DEMOC variable as the next step in the regression model to examine if the estimations and interpretations change. Lastly, all data were gathered from the mentioned data sources in April-May 2022.

4.2 Data Handling

Dataset taken from UNEP CCC (2022) contains 12524 CDM projects in various sectors with different status stages (e.g. validation, registered, withdrawal, etc.). As a first step for cleaning the CDM projects dataset, we selected projects with the statuses validation, de-registered, registered, registration request and request review. Other statuses are connected to unsuccessful project implementation and withdrawals from the projects, which are irrelevant to our study. Subsequently, since our emissions are taken from the energy sector, we went through the projects and eliminated those unrelated to the energy sector (e.g. methane reduction, agriculture, transport, deforestation), resulting in 6184 CDM projects.

Accordingly, we created a list of countries and eliminated those with less than 17 observations in any variable included in the regression model. After that, we created the country list with the number of CDM projects calculated cumulatively for each country in respective years. Finally, to create the number of CDM projects per capita, we divided the number of projects by the population and multiplied it by one million (e.g. the number of projects = population /1000000). By doing so, we believe that per capita reflects a better perspective for this analysis. The list of countries we have left after various applications to the CDM data set is the main scope of this analysis – i.e. 69 developing countries. A detailed list of the countries, their first registered CDM project year, and the number of projects are provided in Appendix 2 (see Table A2).

Furthermore, the dataset related to the emissions contained information about over 100 countries for the time period of 1850-2021. We eliminated years and countries that are out of interest. Carbon dioxide emissions per capita represent oil, gas and fuel usage for energy production, including cement production. As a next step, we extracted the emissions from cement production so that we only get emissions produced for energy purposes. In this dataset, land-use change is excluded. Lastly, for the datasets related to GDP, DEMOC and POP variables, we only selected the countries and time periods related to our study. Most data cleaning processes were done in Excel, while the statistical computations were carried out in Stata and EViews.

4.3 Descriptive Statistics

Table 2 represents the descriptive statistics of the variables included in the analysis. There are 1,380 observations, except for the variables GDP and GDP². Since there are missing values for the GDP and GDP² variables, we have unbalanced panel data.⁸ All variables except DEMOC, CDM and POP are in log form. As expected, the variable representing population (i.e. POP) has the highest values for each category. Similar values for mean and median emphasize that there are not many outliers in each dataset. It is observed that only the POP variable has a significant difference between the mean and median, implying that the population of 69 selected countries differs substantially from each other.

Furthermore, among the other variables than population, GDP^2 has the highest average of 58.85 with a standard deviation of 19.14, while CO₂ has the lowest average of 0.23 with a standard deviation of 1.39. A higher standard deviation represents a spread out from the mean, so GDP^2 has the biggest spread compared to other variables. Regarding the shape of the data and skewness, CO₂, GDP, GDP², and DEMOC are fairly/relatively symmetrical. However, CDM and Population are right-skewed since their skewness values are greater than one.

Variable	Obs.	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.	Min	Max	Skewness
CO ₂	1,380	.2299895	.3418145	1.385827	-3.35240	3.552945	300254
CDM	1,380	.236098	0	.6416184	0	6.214902	4.37607
GDP	1,376	7.572877	7.545501	1.227363	4.84383	10.92498	.309110
GDP^2	1,376	58.85379	56.93459	19.14108	23.4627	119.3551	.658699
DEMOC	1,380	2.644928	5	6.436842	-10	10	587587
POP*	1,380	63.89635	12.47253	200.434	.53190	1354.19	5.29954

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of the variables.

*Note: Population is represented in millions.

⁸ Unbalanced panel datasets refer to datasets with missing values for some observations for some of the groups. In the case of a balanced panel dataset, all groups have the same number of observations.

4.4 Data Limitations

As different procedures are applied, we face some limitations within the scope of this analysis. The paper focuses on 69 developing countries, and the list of countries is shaped mainly according to the CDM projects done in the energy sector. Considering the multiple implications of cleaning the CDM dataset in the previous section, many projects from other sectors and some developing countries from the list were eliminated. In that sense, the number of countries in our analysis is restricted, so drawing general conclusions about other countries might not entirely reflect reality. Besides, each country has different emission development paths. The magnitude of the CDM's impact on emissions might also be determined by country-specific characteristics, which are not included in the scope of this analysis.

5. Methodology

A panel data analysis is employed in this paper to examine the impact of CDM projects on carbon dioxide emissions per capita since it brings various advantages over a time-series analysis. Panel data, also known as longitudinal data, includes observations over time on a number of cross-sectional units such as individuals, firms or countries. Such data is used to examine the variability across time and variables. As provided under Section 4.3 Descriptive Statistics, for each variable, the number of observations is changing; therefore, we have unbalanced panel data in this analysis.

Panel data is advantageous when the main aim is to observe a group rather than an individual (i.e. a country). In that sense, the analysis does not lose much information, and with the panel data structure, the noise created in individual time series is eliminated. It can be used when dynamic changes occur because of repeated cross-sectional observations. Besides, the panel data structure includes cross-sections and time-series, represented by N and T. Here, N refers to a number of groups (e.g. countries), and T refers to the number of years. In this analysis, we have N=69 and T=20.

Moreover, selecting an appropriate model for panel data analysis is essential since wrong model specifications might lead to biased estimates with unreliable results. Since we are handling a dynamic process, capturing all these features with a unique method is crucial. In the following subsections, we introduce the generic form of the Auto-regressive Distributed Lag (ARDL) model used in dynamic processes, subsequently requiring steps to justify the model selection. After that, a model specification for this research is provided.

5.1 Auto-regressive Distributed Lag (ARDL) Model

Auto-regressive Distributed Lag (ARDL) model has gained significant attention over the last decades, and it is seen as a valuable method to investigate the short-run and long-run relationships for economic time-series. The model was introduced by Pesaran & Shin (1999) and a few years later extended by Pesaran et al. (2001). The model can be used when there are variables either I(0), I(1), stationary or non-

stationary, respectively, or a mixture of both.⁹ A time series is stationary if its value turns to its long-run average value and its characteristics are not affected by changes over time, with a constant mean, variance and covariance. On the other hand, a time series is non-stationary if it does not turn to its long-run average value where its mean, variance and covariance change over time. In the case of non-stationary series, we cannot apply the Ordinary Least Square (OLS) or Vector Autoregressive (VAR) model for the required estimation. Such an application would lead to spurious regressions¹⁰ and cause misinterpretations.

It is possible to take a difference of the non-stationary variable to make it stationary; in other words, transforming I(1) to I(0). Nevertheless, this implication causes to lose the information related to the long-run relationship. Thus, differencing the time series is not an option when the focus is observing both short-run and long-run relationships. Pesaran et al. (2001) introduced the auto-regressive distributed lag (ARDL) model for such purpose, where the model has numerous advantages when there are variables with I(0), I(1) or partially cointegrated. The model's outcome provides short-run and long-run relationships simultaneously, and it is also suitable for use when there is a small sample size (Pesaran et al., 2001). When ARDL is employed, residual correlations are not an issue; therefore, endogeneity is not a problem within this model (Pesaran & Shin, 1999).

One concern within the ARDL model is deciding on the optimal lags. Including the unnecessary lagged version of dependent and independent variables might cause multicollinearity. So, it is essential to decide on optimal lags for the required analysis. In addition to that, when handling time-series or panel data, it is vital to understand the characteristics of the variables included in the study and their integrations and interactions over a time period (Shrestha & Bhatta, 2018). Thus, before using the ARDL model, we need to be sure that our variables are fulfilling the requirements of the model (i.e. variables are solely I(0), solely I(1) or partially cointegrated). The following sub-section provides a background for this purpose.

5.1.1 Unit Root Test

Most macroeconomic variables show non-stationary characteristics, making it essential to examine the integration order of the considered variables. As mentioned in section 5.1, to satisfy the ARDL model requirements, we need to ensure that included variables should be I(0), I(1) or mutually cointegrated. In the case of I(2) and higher integration orders, we cannot use the ARDL model. In the case of I(1), it is possible to acquire a long-run relationship between the variables.

⁹ Here, I(0) and I(1) show the order of integration of zero and one. The order of integration represents the minimum number of differences demanded to acquire a covariance-stationary series. For instance, for I(1), we can take the difference of the variable once, then make it I(0) - i.e. stationary.

¹⁰ Spurious regressions occur when ordinary least square or similar methods are applied to time series with non-stationary. This regression shows a significant relationship between variables, which in fact they do not have any correlation. Therefore, the interpretation of such relationships would be misleading.

There are multiple ways of checking whether the time series is stationary or nonstationary. The first way is to create graphs of the variables to observe how they change over time. The stationary variables follow a trend which is constant over time, whereas non-stationary variables follow an increasing or decreasing path over time. Although creating graphs can give an intuition, it is required to do a statistical computation for making a final decision.

This paper employs two unit root tests that can be used with heterogeneous panels for testing stationarity: Im, Pesaran and Smith (IPS) unit root test proposed by Im et al. (2003) and Cross-sectional Augmented Dickey-Fuller (CADF) unit root test proposed by Pesaran (2003). Both tests have a null hypothesis as the series has a unit root (i.e. the series is non-stationary). The reason behind using two unit root test is that the IPS test assumes cross-section units are cross-sectional independent; in contrast, the CADF test includes cross-sectional dependency in testing.¹¹ Considered countries in our analysis might be politically, economically or culturally related to each other, meaning that there might be a presence of cross-sectional dependence. If so, the IPS test results will not provide correct interpretations. Thus, comparing two test results will provide insight into cross dependence and if the interpretations of test results change significantly.

5.2 Cointegration Test and the Error Correction Model

In the case of non-stationary variables with I(1), there might be a case where linear combinations of those variables are stationary, i.e. I(0). Granger (1981) introduced the concept of cointegration, and Engle & Granger (1987) extended this context by providing a method of testing cointegration. However, one drawback of this method is that in the case of multiple variables included in the analysis, it might show more than two cointegrating relationships. Unlike Engle & Granger (1987), Johansen (1988) also provided a test for cointegration where it allows for more than one cointegration relationship. However, this method can only be used when all the variables included in the regression are in the same integration order, i.e. I(1). In our case, having variables with I(0) and I(1), we assess the F-bounds test provided by Pesaran et al. (2001).

F-bounds test is based on standard F- and t-statistics, which are used for testing the significance of lagged levels of the variables in a univariate equilibrium correction mechanism. With the F-bounds test, one can check possible cointegration, hence, understand if there is a long-run relationship between the variables. The test provides two asymptotic critical values: one if all variables are solely I(1) and the other if all variables are solely I(0). Such two critical values provide a span for including all possible categorizations of the regressors that are purely I(0), purely

¹¹ Cross-sectional dependence refers to a situation where units in the cross-section are correlated due to common shocks and unobserved components.

I(1) or a mutually cointegrated (Pesaran et al., 2001). The null and the alternative hypothesis of F-bounds defined as follows:

H_o: no cointegration H_a: cointegration

If the estimated test statistics is greater than the upper critical value (i.e. critical value for I(1)), the null hypothesis is rejected. However, if the estimated test statistics are smaller than the lower bound (i.e. critical value for I(0)), we fail to reject the null hypothesis of no cointegration; hence a long-run relationship does not exist. If the estimated F-statistics lies between the two critical values (i.e. I(0) and I(1)), then the test is inconclusive. When the null hypothesis of no cointegration is rejected, we can examine both short-run and long-run relationships between the variables. According to Engle and Granger (1987), in the presence of cointegration and variables with I(1), it is possible to acquire the long-run relationship by deriving the Error Correction Model (ECM). This derivation is provided in the following section.

5.3 Model Specification

This study assumes that synergies between CDM projects and CO_2 are represented by the unrestricted ARDL(p,q,q,q) model, as follows:

$$CO_{2it} = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \alpha_{ij} CO_{2i,t-j} + \sum_{j=0}^{q} \beta_{ij} CDM_{i,t-j} + \sum_{q=0}^{q} \gamma_{ij} GDP_{i,t-j} + \sum_{j=0}^{q} \delta_{ij} GDP_{i,t-j}^{2} + \theta_{i}t + \mu_{i} + v_{it}$$
(1)

where i = 1, 2, ..., 69 and t = 1, ..., 20

In equation (1), the dependent variable is CO_{2it} , while CDM_{it} , GDP_{it} and GDP_{it}^{2it} represent the explanatory variables. θ_i represents time trend, μ_i shows unobservable country-specific effects, and v_{it} represents assumed well-behaved errors; in other words, v_{it} is serially uncorrelated and independently distributed across countries. This paper employs the ARDL(1,1,1,1) model due to Pesaran et al. (1999). With the inclusion of the GDP and GDP² variables, this study allows the possibility of

the presence of the Environmental Kuznets Curve (EKC).¹² So, the coefficient signs of these two variables will provide insight into whether the EKC can be validated.

5.3.1 Transforming Specified Model to Error Correction Model

Previous studies showed that CO_{2it} , GDP_{it} and GDP_{it}^{2} are cointegrated (e.g. Müller-Fürstenberger & Wagner, 2007; Perman & Stern, 2003). We test this issue under Section 6 to compare our results with the existing literature. According to Engle and Granger (1987), if there is cointegration Error Correction Model should be derived, which considers the co-movements of the variables over time. By using equation (1), we can redefine our model specification in terms of the Error Correction Model as follows:

$$\Delta CO_{2it} = \alpha'_{i1} \left(CO_{2i,t-1} + \frac{\mu'_{i}}{\alpha'_{i1}} + \frac{\beta'_{i1}}{\alpha'_{i1}} CDM_{it} + \frac{\gamma'_{i1}}{\alpha'_{i1}} GDP_{it} + \frac{\delta'_{i1}}{\alpha'_{i1}} GDP_{it}^{2} \right) - \beta_{i1}\Delta CDM_{i,t-1} - \gamma_{i1}\Delta GDP_{i,t-1} - \delta_{i1}\Delta GDP_{i,t-1}^{2} + \theta_{it} + v_{it}$$
(2)

where

$$i = 1, 2, ..., 69$$
 and $t = 1, ..., 20$

$$\begin{aligned} & \propto_{i1}' = -(1 - \alpha_{i1}) \\ & \mu_i' = \mu_i \\ & \beta_{i1}' = \beta_{i0} + \beta_{i1} \\ & \gamma_{i1}' = \gamma_{i0} + \gamma_{i1} \\ & \delta_{i1}' = \delta_{i0} + \delta_{i1} \end{aligned}$$

Here, α'_{i1} represent the coefficient for the speed of adjustment, while $\frac{\beta'_{i1}}{\alpha'_{i1}}$, $\frac{\gamma'_{i1}}{\alpha'_{i1}}$ and $\frac{\delta'_{i1}}{\alpha'_{i1}}$ represent the long-run coefficients for CDM_{it}, GDP_{it} and GDP_{it}², respectively. Short-run coefficients of CDM_{it}, GDP_{it} and GDP_{it}² are represented by β_{i1} , γ_{i1} and δ_{i1} , respectively.

¹² According to Kuznets (1955), industrializing nations first experience an increase and then a decrease in income equality. A similar approach is also applied to the environmental context (Environmental Kuznets Curve, EKC), where an inverted U-shape represents the relationship between pollution and growth. Thus, industrializing nations first experience an increase in pollution with increasing growth, but then a decline of such pollution as growth continues to increase.

5.3.2 Pooled Mean Group (PMG) Estimator

The Pooled Mean Group (PMG) estimator was introduced by Pesaran et al. (1999) to overcome back draws with the mean group and traditional pooled estimators (fixed and random effects). The Mean Group (MG) estimator creates consistent estimates of the average parameters (Pesaran & Smith, 1995); however, it cannot detect that particular parameters can be the same across groups. Fixed and random effects are also counted as extremes since they allow the intercepts to vary across groups; meanwhile, all other coefficients and error variances are constrained to be the same. PMG was introduced as an intermediate estimator and includes both pooling and averaging. It allows the intercepts, error variances and the short-run coefficients to vary across groups while it constrains the long-run coefficients to be the same.

There are some assumptions made for the PMG estimator: (i) error terms are uncorrelated, (ii) there exists a long-run relationship between the dependent and the explanatory variables, (iii) long-run coefficients are homogeneous across groups. The last assumption regarding the long-run homogeneity across groups is represented mathematically from the Equation (2) as follows:

$$\begin{split} & \propto'_{i1} = -(1 - \alpha_{i1}) \\ & \mu'_i = \mu_i \\ & \beta'_{i1} = \beta_{i0} + \beta_{i1} \\ & \gamma'_{i1} = \gamma_{i0} + \gamma_{i1} \\ & \delta'_{i1} = \delta_{i0} + \delta_{i1} \end{split}$$

Additionally, Pesaran et al. (1999) state that when T is large (as in our case), the PMG estimator is robust to outliers and the lag selection for the ARDL model. Therefore, this paper employs the ARDL (1,1,1,1) model to investigate the long-term relationship between the CDM projects and emissions.

6. Results

This section provides the empirical results of the theories discussed in the previous section. First, we test the integration order of the variables with two different unit root tests, followed by a cointegration test to examine a possible long-run relationship. Afterwards, long-run and short-run relationships are estimated with the PMG estimator.

6.1 Unit Root Test for Stationarity

IPS and CADF unit root tests are adopted to investigate the order of integration of the variables, and tests are computed at a level and first difference to observe if non-stationary variables become stationary after differencing once. The null hypothesis for both tests is that the series has a unit root (i.e. the series is non-stationary). To satisfy the requirement of the ARDL model, there should not be any variable with I(2) or a higher order of integration.

Table 3 summarizes the test statistics and their corresponding p-values in parenthesis. The decision column summarizes the order of integration for each variable for the respective tests, and statistical significances are considered at the 5% level and marked with an asterisk. Considering the IPS test results, it is observed that CO_2 , CDM, GDP and GDP² became stationary after first differencing, implying that they have I(1). At the same time, the DEMOC variable is already stationary at the level, so differencing does not change the order of integration. On the contrary, the CADF test shows that CO_2 , GDP, and DEMOC variables became stationary after the first difference, indicating they have I(1). Additionally, CADF test results yield that CDM and GDP² variables are already stationary at level; therefore, differencing does not change the order of integration in this case as well.

As mentioned in Section 5.1.1, with cross-sectional dependency, the IPS test might yield that variables are non-stationary, in fact they are stationary. Therefore, the difference between these two tests might occur due to cross-sectional dependency. Nevertheless, the most important thing is that none of the variables has I(2) or a higher order of integration; hence, the ARDL model can be used safely.

		IPS test	(CADF test		
Variables	Level	First difference	Decision	Level	First difference	Decision
CO ₂	4.00688	-7.10737*	I(1)	-1.608	-2.686*	I (1)
	(1.000)	(0.0000)		(1.000)	(0.000)	
CDM	17.6926	-2.97057*	I (1)	-1.944*	-2.806*	I(0)
	(1.000)	(0.0015)		(0.041)	(0.000)	
GDP	3.07541	-8.19394*	I (1)	-1.466	-7.461*	I (1)
	(0.9989)	(0.0000)		(0.071)	(0.000)	
GDP ²	4.04079	-8.19384*	I (1)	-3.389*	-7.461*	I(0)
	(1.0000)	(0.0000)		(0.000)	(0.000)	
			- (0)	1 200	0.0 5 0.0	- (1)
DEMOC	-8.7000*	-9.23799*	I(0)	-1.380	-2.073*	I(1)
	(0.000)	(0.0000)		(1.000)	(0.003)	

Table 3.	Results c	of the unit ro	ot tests.	
Source:	Author's	calculation	on EViews	and Stata.

Note: P-values are provided in parenthesis. Intercept and trend are included while tests are carried out. For Im, Pesaran and Smith (IPS) unit root test, probabilities are computed assuming asymptotic normality. Statistical significancy is shown with * at the 5% level.

6.2 F-bounds Test for Cointegration

The F-bounds test is used in this section to examine if the variables included in the regression models are cointegrated. Table 4 summarizes the test results. The first estimated model shows that CDM, GDP and GDP² are taken as explanatory variables. In addition to the explanatory variables in the first model, the second model also includes the DEMOC variable. In both models, it is observed that F statistics (8.800 and 7.200) are over the I(1) bound at 10%, 5% and 1% levels. This outcome implies that the null hypothesis of no cointegration is rejected since both F-statistics are over the I(1) bounds at every significance level; hence, there is cointegration between the dependent and independent variables.

Estimated model	F- statistic	10% crit value	tical	5% cri value	tical	1% crit value	ical
		I(0)	I(1)	I(0)	(I)	I(0)	I(1)
CO ₂ ~ CDM, GDP,GDP ²	8.800	3.470	4.450	4.010	5.070	5.170	6.360
CO ₂ ~ CDM, GDP, GDP ² , DEMOC	7.200	3.030	4.060	3.470	4.570	4.400	5.720

Table 4. F-bounds test results for cointegration. Source: Author's calculation on Stata.

6.3 Pooled Mean Group (PMG) Estimator for Short-run and Long-run Relationships

The previous section proved that variables included in the analysis are cointegrated, so the long-run relationship between them can be acquired. Table 5 represents the estimation of the ARDL(1,1,1,1) model with the PMG estimator by providing shortand long-run coefficients, where we focused on the impact of CDM projects on carbon dioxide emissions per capita for 69 countries from 1993 to 2012. The dependent variable is CO_2 , while the independent variables are CDM, GDP and GDP^2 . The PMG estimator allows the short-run adjustments to vary between countries while the long-run coefficients are the same (i.e. homogenous). The results also provide a speed of adjustment, representing the pace of the model returning to its long-run equilibrium after any structural changes, which usually takes a value between 0 and -1.

The results in Table 5 indicate that the coefficient for the speed of adjustment is significant, and when there is any structural break or change, the model moves from a short-run state to a long-run equilibrium at a rate of 0.491. This outcome can also be interpreted as approximately 49% of disequilibrium is corrected within one year (since our data is taken annually). Regarding the long-run coefficients, all variables are significant. The positive coefficient sign of the CDM variable means that an increase in the number of CDM projects per capita would lead to increased emissions, which contradicts the CDM's emission reduction objective. Moreover, the results indicate that GDP and GDP² are positively and negatively related to CO₂. This outcome implies that an increase in GDP would increase CO₂; however, after a certain point, it would decrease CO₂, which validates the Environmental Kuznets Curve (EKC). Considering the short-run outcomes, none of the variables is significant. However, in the short run, the negative coefficient sign of the CDM variable implies that with the implementation of CDM projects, emissions will be reduced.

Dependent variable: CO _{2it}	
Speed of adjustment	-0.491** (-2.98)
Long-run coefficients	
CDM _{it}	0.0370*
	(2.00)
GDP _{it}	0.901***
	(6.83)
GDP_{if}^2	-0.0507***
	(-6.03)

Table 5. PMG estimator for the long-run and short-run relationships. Source: Author's calculation on Stata.

Short-run coefficients	
$\Delta CDM_{i, t-1}$	-0.893
	(-1.71)
$\Delta GDP_{i, t-1}$	1.874
	(0.79)
$\Delta \text{GDP}^{2}_{i,t-1}$	-0.0931
	(-0.68)
Trend	0.00921
	(1.30)
Constant	-20.37
	(-1.36)
Observations	1307
Number of countries	69

Note: PMG estimator is used for estimating ARDL (1,1,1,1) model, including a time trend. T-statistics are provided in parentheses. Significance levels: *** p < 0.001;

** p < 0.01;

* p < 0.05.

Next, we include the DEMOC variable in the regression model to test if the interpretations would change. The results of this estimation are summarized in Table 6. Compared to the previous results, the coefficient of the speed of adjustment decreased slightly and became insignificant. In the long-run, all variables are still significant, and the absolute value of the coefficients has increased slightly. The coefficient sign of the CDM variable is still positive, referring that emissions are increased with the implementation of CDM projects. Similarly, coefficient signs of the GDP and GDP² are still in line with the previous estimation, validating the EKC.

Moreover, it is also observed that the DEMOC variable has a significant and positive effect on emissions, meaning that a higher democracy level (or better governance and higher institutional quality) leads to higher emissions. Previous studies focused on the synergies between democracy and economic growth found a significant and positive relationship (e.g. Acemoglu et al., 2019; Persson & Tabellini, 2009). Our results confirmed the positive relationship between GDP and CO₂; therefore, a higher democracy level triggers higher economic growth, stimulating higher emissions.

Nevertheless, our results regarding the positive relationship between democracy level and emissions contradict some studies which highlight a negative relationship between democracy level and environmental commitment (e.g. Neumayer, 2002; Chou et al., 2019). Such differences might stem from different variables used as proxies to measure democracy level.

Table 6. PMG estimator for the long-run and short-run relationships, including the DEMOC variable. Source: Author's calculation on Stata.

Dependent variable: CO_{2it}

Speed of adjustment	-0.341
F S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	(-1.46)
Long-run coefficients	
CDM _{it}	0.0600**
	(2.88)
GDP _{it}	1.369***
	(7.28)
GDP_{it}^2	-0.0870***
	(-6.96)
DEMOC	0.0384***
	(7.94)
Short-run coefficients	
ΔCDM _{i, t-1}	-0.605
	(-1.23)
$\Delta GDP_{i, t-1}$	2.851
	(1.19)
$\Delta \text{GDP}^{2}_{i,t-1}$	-0.163
	(-1.18)
$\Delta DEMOC_{i,t-1}$	-0.00399
	(-0.67)
Trend	0.00458
	(0.61)
Constant	-11.26
	(-0.69)
Observations	1307
Number of countries	69

Note: PMG estimator is used for estimating ARDL (1,1,1,1) model, including a time trend. T-statistics are provided in parentheses. Significance levels: *** p < 0.001; ** p < 0.01; * p < 0.05.

To sum, by allowing heterogeneity across 69 developing countries, this paper provides a significant and positive relationship between CDM projects and carbon dioxide emissions per capita, implying that with the implementation of CDM projects, emissions increased over 1993-2012. Our results validate the Environmental Kuznets Curve (EKC), and findings related to a positive relationship between CDM-CO₂ and GDP-CO₂ reflect previous studies (e.g. Schneider, 2007;

Rosendahl & Strand, 2009; Schneider et al., 2010; Osadume & University, 2021; Sharma, 2011).

7. Discussion

The previous section provided empirical results that CDM projects did not contribute to emission reductions in developing countries over 1993-2012. The main reason for observing an emission increase with the implementation of CDM projects might be how the projects are assessed concerning additionality and how the estimated emission reductions are issued. CDM is considered an offsetting mechanism since reductions made in developing countries are used to offset emissions made in developed countries (Paulsson, 2009). In that sense, assessments related to additionality and produced CERs should be done carefully and reflect reality. As long as non-additional projects are operated within the CDM and CERs do not reflect the actual emission reductions, it is likely to observe increased emissions with the implementation of CDM projects.

According to Carbon Market Watch (2018), most of the emission credits (CERs) issued under CDM would likely happen anyway. Even on some occasions, the mechanism encouraged companies to intensify their emissions to generate more emission credits for their destruction. This issue is commonly discussed and highlighted in previous studies, which explains why we observe a positive impact of CDM projects on emissions. For instance, project designers might manipulate the baselines by claiming higher baseline emission rates to show that their project leads to higher emission reductions. Such a situation would likely produce higher CERs, making the project attractive for investors and providing a higher investment flow for host countries. However, if more CERs are produced than emissions are reduced, CDM will increase total emissions.

Another factor why CDM projects' implementation led to emission increases can be explained due to asymmetric information. For projects to be implemented, the project's cost should be in a range where there is an adequately high cost for the project not to be implemented without CDM but sufficiently low to make the project feasible under CDM. However, the regulators cannot assess how high the cost might be in real life (Rosendahl & Strand, 2009); thus, the actors cannot simply evaluate optimal benefits due to diverse needs, interests and information gaps (Wang, 2010). Moreover, such asymmetric information could also affect the assessments regarding additionality, which might trigger ineffective projects to be implemented within the mechanism. Additionally, the methodology called barrier analysis¹³ (i.e. a most commonly used method assessing the additionality of CDM projects) cannot distinguish between additional and non-additional projects (Schneider, 2007). Unfortunately, the implication process of the barrier analysis is vastly subjective and ambiguous; therefore, it is hard to validate the process in an objective and transparent way. Moreover, CDM projects can be perceived as foreign direct investments (FDI) since projects provide investment flows to host countries. Previous studies describe FDI as a trigger for economic growth and found a significant and positive relationship between FDI and GDP (e.g. Ghatak and Halicioglu, 2007; Neuhaus, 2006). As shown in the previous section, our results also proved a significant and positive relationship between GDP and CO₂, implying that FDI would have an indirect and positive impact on emissions.

These mentioned problems might likely prevent CDM from delivering its emission reduction purpose. Therefore, increased transparency, improved methodologies and better governance regarding the additionality assessments should be ensured to overcome such issues. In addition, increased partnerships between countries to learn more about their sectors can also eliminate or reduce asymmetric information. Nevertheless, results among previous studies change significantly depending on which methodology, period and region are selected. This study included a range of countries from different continents with different sizes in terms of population, economic growth and democracy. Thus, including other relevant variables or more countries on the list might affect the results substantially.

Lastly, it is also noteworthy to mention that this paper employs a PMG estimator with an ARDL model to examine the long-run and short-run relationships between the CDM projects and emission development. However, one back draw with the PMG estimator is that if the time period is short (e.g. less than ten years), it cannot provide efficient estimates, which is a limitation within the model. Therefore, one can consider employing other estimators or models when the focus is studying short time periods.

¹³ The barrier analysis must show that obstacles would prevent the proposed project from being implemented if the project activity were not registered as a CDM activity.

8. Conclusion

As the first global mechanism where developed and developing countries are provided with a channel to cooperate for climate change mitigation, CDM has received many criticisms. Although the mechanism has created a global market for greenhouse gas emissions, it failed to deliver its emission reduction purpose. However, the experiences from CDM and understanding of how to improve the mechanism play an essential role in shaping future work related to global climate change mitigation.

In order to examine the empirical link between CDM projects and carbon dioxide emissions per capita, this study employs dynamic heterogeneous panel data for 69 eligible host countries from 1993 to 2012. The study mainly focuses on Pooled Mean Group (PMG) estimator that allows short-run coefficients to alter between groups but restricts long-run coefficients to be the same across groups. The results indicate a significant and positive relationship between CDM projects and emissions in the long run, implying that with the implementation of CDM projects, it is anticipated that emissions would also increase. This outcome aligns with most of the literature investigating the additionality of CDM projects, i.e. whether the developing countries experience emission reductions without implementing such projects. Our results also validate the Environmental Kuznets Curve (EKC). In order to improve the mechanism and achieve emission reductions, how the methodologies are defined and carried out, subsequently, how this process is followed up should be improved. Indeed, increased transparency and enhanced evaluation regarding the additionality of CDM projects also play an essential role.

Nonetheless, it is vital to keep in mind that this study considers only the first commitment period of the Kyoto Protocol (i.e. 2008-2012), which was the very beginning of this mechanism in practice. Experiences and learnings from the first commitment period have also shaped the overall work of the second commitment period. Therefore, by limiting the scope of the study to the first commitment period, we might not capture the full effect of the CDM on emission development in developing countries. As a future research idea, one can consider extending the time period (e.g. 1993-2020) to get a better interpretation. Certainly, a more extended period can provide a better policy framework for countries. One can also consider redefining the CDM variable (such as volume of CDM credits - CERs) and include other relevant variables into the estimations (e.g. trade) to observe if the interpretations of the results change.

References

- Acemoglu, D., Naidu, S., Restrepo, P., & Robinson, J. A. (2019). Democracy Does Cause Growth. *Journal of Political Economy*, 127(1), 47–100. https://doi.org/10.1086/700936
- Austin, D. and P. Faeth. (2000). "How much Sustainable Development Can We Expect From The Clean Development Mechanism? An Overview." In *Financing Sustainable Development with the Clean Development Mechanism*. D. Austin and P. Faeth, Eds., World Resources Institute, Washington D.C.: 1-12.
- Banuri, T., Gupta, S. (2000). The Clean Development Mechanism and sustainable development: an economic analysis. In Ghosh P (ed) In Implementation of the Kyoto Protocol. Asian Development Bank.
- Burniaux, J. et al. (2009), "The Economics of Climate Change Mitigation: How to Build the Necessary Global Action in a Cost-Effective Manner", OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No. 701, OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/224074334782
- Carbon Market Watch. (2018). *The Clean Development Mechanism: Local Impacts of a Global System*. https://carbonmarketwatch.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/CMW-THE-CLEAN-DEVELOPMENT-MECHANISM-LOCAL-IMPACTS-OF-A-GLOBAL-SYSTEM-FINAL-SPREAD-WEB.pdf
- Chou, L. C., Zhang, W. H., Wang, M. Y., & Yang, F. M. (2019). The influence of democracy on emissions and energy efficiency in America: New evidence from quantile regression analysis. *Energy & Environment*, 31(8), 1318–1334. https://doi.org/10.1177/0958305x19882382
- Dagoumas, A., Papagiannis, G., & Dokopoulos, P. (2006). An economic assessment of the Kyoto Protocol application. Energy Policy, 34(1), 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2004.05.012
- Engle, R. F., & Granger, C. W. J. (1987). Co-Integration and Error Correction: Representation, Estimation, and Testing. *Econometrica*, 55(2), 251. https://doi.org/10.2307/1913236
- Ghatak, A., & Halicioglu, F. (2007). Foreign direct investment and economic growth: some evidence from across the world. Global Business and Economics Review, 9(4), 381. https://doi.org/10.1504/gber.2007.015101
- Global Energy Market data. (2010). The Enerdata Global Energy Intelligence. www.enerdata.fr

- Granger, C. (1981). Some properties of time series data and their use in econometric model specification. *Journal of Econometrics*, *16*(1), 121–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4076(81)90079-8
- Han, C., Phillips, P. C. B., & Sul, D. (2013). X-DIFFERENCING AND DYNAMIC PANEL MODEL ESTIMATION. Econometric Theory, 30(1), 201–251. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0266466613000170
- He, J., Huang, Y., & Tarp, F. (2014). Is the Clean Development Mechanism effective for emission reductions? Greenhouse Gases: Science and Technology, 4(6), 750– 760. https://doi.org/10.1002/ghg.1448
- Hinostroza, M., Cheng, C., Zhu, X., Fenhann, J., Figueres, C., & Avendano, F. (2007). Potentials and Barriers for End-use Energy Efficiency under Programmatic CDM, UNEP Riso Centre.
- Huang, Y., & Barker, T. (2012). The Clean Development Mechanism and low carbon development: A panel data analysis. Energy Economics, 34(4), 1033–1040. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2011.08.010
- Im, K. S., Pesaran, M., & Shin, Y. (2003). Testing for unit roots in heterogeneous panels. Journal of Econometrics, 115(1), 53–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-4076(03)00092-7
- INSCR Data Page / Polity5: Regime Authority Characteristics and Transitions Datasets. (2022). Center for Systemic Peace. Retrieved May 2022, from https://www.systemicpeace.org/inscrdata.html
- Johansen, S. (1988). Statistical analysis of cointegration vectors. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, *12*(2–3), 231–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1889(88)90041-3
- Kallbekken, S., Flottorp, L. S., & Rive, N. (2007). CDM baseline approaches and carbon leakage. Energy Policy, 35(8), 4154–4163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2007.02.013
- Kuznets, S. (1955) Economic Growth and Income Inequality. *American Economic Review*, 45, 1-28, Available online: https://www.jstor.org/stable/1811581?seq=1
- Lægreid, O. M. (2014). Political and Economic Effects on Greenhouse Gas Emissions a Quantitative Study. *World Political Science*, *10*(2), 313–341. https://doi.org/10.1515/wpsr-2014-0014
- Li, Z., & Lin, B. (2021). What matters in the distributions of clean development mechanism projects? A panel data approach. Environmental Impact Assessment Review, 88, 106566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2021.106566
- Marshall, M. G., Gurr, T. R. (2020). "Polity5: Political Regime Characteristics and Transitions, 1800-2018". Dataset Users' Manual. Center for Systemic Peace. Available at http://www.systemicpeace.org/inscr/p5manualv2018.pdf
- Müller-Fürstenberger, G., & Wagner, M. (2007). Exploring the environmental Kuznets hypothesis: Theoretical and econometric problems. *Ecological Economics*, 62(3–4), 648–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2006.08.005
- Neuhaus, M. (2006), The Impact of FDI on Economic Growth: An Analysis for the Transition Countries of Central and Eastern Europe, Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg.

- Neumayer, E. (2002). Do Democracies Exhibit Stronger International Environmental Commitment? A Cross-country Analysis. *Journal of Peace Research*, *39*(2), 139–164. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343302039002001
- OECD Environmental Outlook to 2050. (2012). *OECD Environmental Outlook*. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264122246-en
- OECD. (2002). Environment Directorate, Environment Policy Committee, Working Party on Global and Structural Policies, Environmental Benefits of Foreign Direct Investment: a Literature Review. OECD, Paris.
- Osadume, R., & University, E. O. (2021). Impact of economic growth on carbon emissions in selected West African countries, 1980–2019. *Journal of Money and Business*, 1(1), 8–23. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmb-03-2021-0002
- Our World in Data. (2022). *Per capita CO2 emissions*. Retrieved April 2022, from https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/co-emissions-per-capita
- Paulsson, E. (2009). A review of the CDM literature: from fine-tuning to critical scrutiny? International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics, 9(1), 63–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10784-008-9088-0
- Perman, R., & Stern, D. I. (2003). Evidence from panel unit root and cointegration tests that the Environmental Kuznets Curve does not exist. *Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, 47(3), 325–347. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8489.00216
- Persson, T., & Tabellini, G. (2009). Democratic Capital: The Nexus of Political and Economic Change. American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, 1(2), 88–126. https://doi.org/10.1257/mac.1.2.88
- Pesaran, M. H. (2003). A Simple Panel Unit Root Test in the Presence of Cross Section Dependence. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.457280
- Pesaran, M. H. (2007). A Simple Panel Unit Root Test in the Presence of Cross-Section Dependence. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 22(2), 265–312. http://www.jstor.org/stable/25146517
- Pesaran, M. H., & Shin, Y. (1999). An Autoregressive Distributed Lag Modelling Approach to Cointegration Analysis, in S. Strøm (eds), *Econometrics and Economic Theory in 20th Century: The Ragnar Frisch Centennial Symposium*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 371-413
- Pesaran, M. H., & Smith, R. (1995). Estimating long-run relationships from dynamic heterogeneous panels. *Journal of Econometrics*, 68(1), 79–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4076(94)01644-f
- Pesaran, M. H., Shin, Y., & Smith, R. J. (2001). Bounds testing approaches to the analysis of level relationships. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 16(3), 289–326. https://doi.org/10.1002/jae.616
- Pesaran, M. H., Shin, Y., & Smith, R. P. (1999). Pooled Mean Group Estimation of Dynamic Heterogeneous Panels. Journal of the American Statistical Association, 94(446), 621–634. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1999.10474156

- Pesaran, M.H. (2003). "A Simple Panel Unit Root Test in the Presence of Cross Section Dependence,"Cambridge Working Papers in Economics 0346, Faculty of Economics, University of Cambridge.
- Rosendahl, K.E., Strand J. (2009). Simple Model Frameworks for Explaining Inefficiency of the Clean Development Mechanism, Policy Research Working Paper WPS 4931. World Bank, Washington, DC. Available at: SSRN https://ssrn.com/abstract=1405162
- Schneider, L. (2007). Is the CDM fulfilling its environmental and sustainable development objectives? An evaluation of the CDM and options for improvement. Berlin: Öko-Institut.
- Schneider, L. (2009). Assessing the additionality of CDM projects: practical experiences and lessons learned. Climate Policy, 9(3), 242–254. https://doi.org/10.3763/cpol.2008.0533
- Schneider, L., Lazarus, M., & Kollmuss, A. (2010, October). Industrial N2O Projects Under the CDM: Adipic Acid - A Case of Carbon Leakage? (WP-US-1006). Stockholm Environment Institute. https://mediamanager.sei.org/documents/Publications/Climate/seiadipicacidleakage-9oct2010.pdf
- Selseng, T., Linnerud, K., & Holden, E. (2022). Unpacking democracy: The effects of different democratic qualities on climate change performance over time. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *128*, 326–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2021.12.009
- Sharma, S. S. (2011). Determinants of carbon dioxide emissions: Empirical evidence from 69 countries. *Applied Energy*, 88(1), 376–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2010.07.022
- Shi, B., Wu, L., & Kang, R. (2021). Clean Development, Energy Substitution, and Carbon Emissions: Evidence from Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) Project Implementation in China. Sustainability, 13(2), 860. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13020860
- Shrestha, M. B., & Bhatta, G. R. (2018). Selecting appropriate methodological framework for time series data analysis. The Journal of Finance and Data Science, 4(2), 71–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfds.2017.11.001
- UNCTAD. (2003). An Implementation Guide to the Clean Development Mechanism (UNCTAD/DITC/TED/2003/1). https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ditcted20031_en.pdf
- UNDP. (2003). Going through the CDM Process. In UNDP CDM Manual (pp. 19–34). https://www.undp.org/publications/undp-cdm-manual
- UNEP Copenhagen Climate Centre. (2022). UNEP CCC CDM/JI Pipeline Analysis and Database. Retrieved May 2022, from https://www.cdmpipeline.org
- UNFCCC. (2022a). CDM Project Cycle / UNFCCC. Retrieved April 2022, from https://cdm.unfccc.int/Projects/diagram.html
- UNFCCC. (2022b). *The Clean Development Mechanism / UNFCCC*. Retrieved April 2022, from https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-kyoto-

protocol/mechanisms-under-the-kyoto-protocol/the-clean-development-mechanism

- UNFCCC. (2022c). *What is the Kyoto Protocol? / UNFCCC*. Retrieved April 2022, from https://unfccc.int/kyoto_protocol
- United Nations. (1998), 'Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change', New York: United Nations.
- Wang, B. (2010). Can CDM bring technology transfer to China?—An empirical study of technology transfer in China's CDM projects. *Energy Policy*, 38(5), 2572–2585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2009.12.052
- Wara, M., Victor, D.G. (2008). A Realistic Policy on International Carbon Offsets (No. 74), Program on Energy and Sustainable Development Working Paper. Stanford University, Stanford, CA.
- Watts, D., Albornoz, C., & Watson, A. (2015). Clean development Mechanism (CDM) after the first commitment period: Assessment of the world's portfolio and the role of Latin America. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 41, 1176– 1189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.07.146
- World Bank. (2022a). *GDP per capita (current US\$) / Data*. Retrieved May 2022, from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD
- World Bank. (2022b). *World Development Indicators / DataBank*. Retrieved April 2022, from https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators

Appendix 1

Table A1. Correlation matrix.Source: Author's calculation on Stata.

	CO ₂	CDM	GDP	GDP^2	DEMOC	POP
CO ₂	1.0000					
CDM	0.1524	1.0000				
GDP	0.7892	0.3367	1.0000			
GDP^2	0.7770	0.3417	0.9955	1.0000		
DEMOC	0.0414	0.2049	0.1465	0.1289	1.0000	
POP	0.0528	0.0193	-0.1022	-0.1051	-0.0628	1.000

Appendix 2

Country and	Country name	1 st CDM	Total CDM projects
Country code		project year	over 2008-2012
ALB	Albania	2008	3
ARG	Argentina	2004	48
ARM	Armenia	2005	6
AZE	Azerbaijan	2011	2
BGD	Bangladesh	2006	3
BTN	Bhutan	2005	1
BOL	Bolivia	2002	4
BRA	Brazil	2003	286
KHM	Cambodia	2008	6
CMR	Cameroon	2011	2
CHL	Chile	2004	95
CHN	China	2004	3757
COL	Colombia	2005	64
CRI	Costa Rica	2004	16
CIV	Côte d'Ivoire	2008	4
CUB	Cuba	2006	1
CYP	Cyprus	2006	6
DOM	Dominican Republic	2006	14
ECU	Ecuador	2004	24
EGY	Egypt	2006	13
SLV	El Salvador	2005	4
FJI	Fiji	2005	1
GEO	Georgia	2008	4
GTM	Guatemala	2003	13
GUY	Guyana	2006	1
HND	Honduras	2004	27
IND	India	2004	1424
IDN	Indonesia	2005	61
IRN	Iran	2010	14
ISR	Israel	2006	15
JAM	Jamaica	2005	2
JOR	Jordan	2007	2
KEN	Kenya	2006	14
LAO	Laos	2006	4

Table A2. List of countries, first registration year and the number of CDM projects.Source: UNEP Copenhagen Climate Centre CDM/JI Analysis and Database (2022)

LBY	Libva	2011	2
MDG	Madagascar	2008	3
MYS	Malavsia	2005	51
MLI	Mali	2007	1
MUS	Mauritius	2010	1
MEX	Mexico	2004	53
MDA	Moldova	2005	5
MNG	Mongolia	2006	4
MAR	Morocco	2004	12
NPL	Nepal	2010	2
NIC	Nicaragua	2005	7
NGA	Nigeria	2008	4
MKD	North Macedonia	2008	6
РАК	Pakistan	2006	31
PAN	Panama	2005	17
PNG	Papua New Guinea	2006	1
PER	Peru	2005	52
PHL	Philippines	2005	23
RWA	Rwanda	2009	1
SAU	Saudi Arabia	2012	1
SEN	Senegal	2008	3
SGP	Singapore	2008	2
ZAF	South Africa	2004	46
KOR	South Korea	2005	70
LKA	Sri Lanka	2005	12
SYR	Syria	2009	2
TZA	Tanzania	2011	1
THA	Thailand	2005	59
TUN	Tunisia	2010	2
UGA	Uganda	2005	5
ARE	United Arab Emirates	2008	11
URY	Uruguay	2005	21
UZB	Uzbekistan	2010	7
VNM	Vietnam	2005	216
ZMB	Zambia	2008	1

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. Read about SLU's publishing agreement here:

• <u>https://www.slu.se/en/subweb/library/publish-and-analyse/register-and-publish/agreement-for-publishing/</u>.

 \boxtimes YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable